
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

MAYOR - EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 

 

Date: MONDAY, 15 MAY 2023  
 
 
  

 

 ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA  

 

Item 
No 

 Page 
No.s 

1.   Mayor of London Grant for Key Stage 2 Universal Free School Meals 
- Notice of special urgency 
- Report 
- Appendix 
 

1 - 20 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Notice of Key Decision for which it has not been possible to provide notice.   

Decision taken under Rule 19 – Special Urgency. This procedure should only be used in exceptional circumstances where it is not 

possible to:  provide the required 28 days’ prior notice of a key decision; and  provide a minimum of 5 working days’ notice prior 

to the decision needing to be taken; This decision is not eligible for call-in. 

 

Decision 
maker 

Decision Title Reason for Urgency Wards affected Decision date 

The Mayor Mayor of London Grant for Key Stage 2 
Universal Free School Meals (FSM)  

 

Timing requirements 
imposed on the council by 
the Mayor of London have 
meant that normal decision 
making processes cannot 
be followed. 
 
The urgency provisions in 
Rules 18 and 19 are being 
applied to this decision with 
the agreement of the Chair 
of the Council’s Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee and 
the Speaker of Council. 
 
The decision is being taken 
without providing 28 days 
notice in the forward plan 
of key decisions, and is not 
able to be called-in. 
 

All 15 May 2023 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



  

 

P
age 2



 

KEY DECISION 

  
 

Mayor and Cabinet 

 

 
 

 
 

Report title: Mayor of London Grant for Key Stage 2 Universal 
Free School Meals 

Date: 15 May 2023 

Key decision: Yes 

Class: Part 1 

Ward(s) affected: Whole Borough 

Contributors: Executive Director of Corporate Resources. Director of Law and 

Corporate Governance. Director of Education. Head of Business, Infrastructure, 

Compliance and Education Operations.  

Outline and recommendations 

This report outlines the recent funding announcement from the Mayor of London 

regarding Key Stage 2 Universal Free School Meals (FSM), along with the 

implications for the council and schools.  

The Mayor and Cabinet are recommended: 

 to note the contents of the report, including the potential revenue impact on 

schools subsidising the meals (up to £600k), the knock-on impact of future 

funding linked to FSM, and the expectation this may create and that the 

Council will be unable to continue the universal offer as it would cost circa 

£5m per annum to continue (for the meal provision element). 

 to formally accept the one academic year funding (2023/24) and instruct 

officers to write back stipulating the financial implications for the council and 

schools as outlined above  

 to approve the capital funding of up to £620k and instruct officers to 

commence procurement of the necessary kitchen equipment to enable the 

delivery of these meals from September 2023 

Page 3



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 
 

Given the timing requirements imposed on the Council by the Mayor of London, normal 
decision-making processes, i.e. inclusion in the forward plan of Key Decisions and call-
in rights, cannot be followed. 

The urgency provisions in Rules 18 and 19 are being applied to this decision with the 
agreement of the Chair of the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. The Mayor of London (MoL) has recently announced funding for Universal Free School 

Meals (UFSM) for Key Stage 2 (KS2) aged pupils across London. 

1.2. On the 28th April the Greater London Authority (GLA) wrote to Local Authorities (LAs) 

outlining the funding conditions and seeking clarification of acceptance of the funding 

by 17 May 2023. 

1.3. The funding announced is at a rate of £2.65/meal for all Key Stage 2 pupils who do not 

already receive a FSM and is for 2023/24 academic year only. The total indicative 

grant funding is £4.3m. This will be adjusted to reflect the actual school census 

numbers for each term. 

1.4. The funding is below the rate of £3/meal that Lewisham schools receive for FSM 

eligible pupils via the National Funding Formula. It is, however, above the rate of £2.41 

that schools receive in grant funding for Universal Infant FSM (UIFSM) in academic 

year 2023/24. The gap in funding will have a potential overall revenue impact on 

schools of up to £600k for delivery this KS2 UFSM provision. 

1.5. To enable the delivery of an increased number of school meals, many schools will 

need additional equipment (ovens, fridges etc) which means there is a capital 

requirement of circa £620k also. The recommendations are for this to be paid for and 

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

28 April – Greater London Authority (GLA) letter to CEO outlining the funding, 

seeking a response by 17 May 

15 May – M&C decision 

17 May - Write back to GLA with decision and implications 

September - Implementation of grant 

List past formal decisions and engagement. See Section 6.4 - “Timeline of 

engagement and decision-making” in the guidance for more information. 

Page 4

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

procured by the council as the council is the responsible body for maintaining school 

assets. 

1.6. There is also a risk that the funding linked to FSM eligible children received by schools 

may be impacted by this initiative (delegated budget share, Pupil Premium etc), as 

parents/carers may not apply for FSM given that their child(ren) are receiving a meal 

anyway. This could impact school funding for multiple years.  

1.7. By providing this funding/offer, there is potential for a level of expectation in the 

community that it will continue and for reputational impact on the council, should it not. 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. The Mayor and Cabinet are recommended: 

2.2. To note the contents of the report, including the potential revenue impact on schools 

subsidising the meals (up to £600k), the knock-on impact of future funding linked to 

FSM, and the expectation this may create and that the Council will be unable to 

continue the universal offer as it would cost circa £5m per annum to continue (for the 

meal provision element). 

2.3. To formally accept the one academic year funding (2023/24) and instruct officers to 

write back stipulating the financial implications for the council and schools as outlined 

above. 

2.4. To approve the capital funding of up to £620k and instruct officers to commence 

procurement of the necessary kitchen equipment to enable the delivery of these meals 

from September 2023.  

 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. This report aligns with Lewisham’s Corporate Priorities, as set out in the Council’s 

Corporate Strategy (2022-2026): 

 Cleaner and Greener  

 A Strong Local Economy  

 Quality Housing  

Page 5

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 Children and Young People 

 Safer Communities  

 Open Lewisham  

 Health and Wellbeing 

3.2. In particular, this report is closely aligned to the priority focussed on ensuring that our 

children are able to access high quality nutritious food at school, and our continued 

efforts to lobby for an extension of FSM provision.  

 

4. Background  

4.1. Earlier this year the MoL announced £130m of emergency, once-off funding to ensure 

all primary school children can receive FSM for the academic year beginning in 

September 2023. 

4.2. The funding is to support families in London who are struggling with the cost of living 

crisis. 

4.3. For Lewisham this funding equates to approximately £4.3m at a rate of £2.65 per meal 

for those children in Key Stage 2 (Year 3-6) that aren’t already claiming FSM. 

4.4. This scheme is designed to complement the governments Universal Infant FSM 

(UIFSM) programme, which since 2014 has provided funding to enable all children in 

Reception, Year 1 and Year 2 to access a school meal free of charge.   

4.5. A 2020 Institute for Social and Economic Research review of the first six years of  

UIFSM found early indications of positive impact: 

 having a child become entitled to FSM results in a saving on food expenditure 

among not-FSM-registered households (some of which will be relatively low-

income households), supporting them with the cost of living; 

 reductions in bodyweight for children calssed as obese throughout the first year of 

school, bringing more children into the healthy range 

 improved absence rates for FSM-registered infants; reduced inequalities in 

absences between children from lower and higher income backgrounds. 

 among those entitled to UIFSM, children who actually took up the available free 

school lunch had stronger educational performance at both age 5 and age 7. 

Page 6

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

5. The funding and implications  

5.1. There are 4 main implications of the funding; 

 the potential funding gap between funded meal price and actual cost of meal/loss of 

income from paid meals; 

 the need for additional kitchen equipment to deliver the increased number of meals; 

 the impact on FSM related funding (such as Pupil Premium) as parents/carers may 

now not apply for FSM; 

 the level of expectation in the community for any provision to be ongoing, bearing in 

mind that the funding is only committed for one year. 

5.2. Revenue Gap 

5.2.1. The funding announced is at a rate of £2.65/meal for all Key Stage 2 pupils who 

don’t already receive a FSM and is for just the one academic year 2023/24. It 

should be noted that the price paid by paying parents for meals at school varies 

depending on local arrangements and it does not always reflect the cost paid to 

catering contractors or the cost of self-delivery which differs depending on size, 

facilities, special diet requirements etc.  Schools in the central contract have a 

financially supportive model which means that the cost is spread so that all 

members pay the same per meal rate regardless of the delivery cost individually.  

The allocation falls short of the weighted allocation of £3 per meal for each FSM 

(FSM) eligible child (£570.68 per child per year) allocated through the national 

funding formula to schools.  It should be noted that the funding from the MoL, will 

only support those pupils who are not eligible for FSM, as those in receipt of FSM 

are already funded from the Delegated Budget share.  Data will be collected via 

the termly census.  In essence a school could have a pressure of circa £67 per 

pupil funded.  However, this needs to be considered in the context of current 

subsidy for paid meals. 

5.2.2. Many schools are already finding themselves in a position where they are having 

to subsidise the cost of paid meals.  With UFSM likely to increase demand for 

school dinners this subsidy would increase in line and put further financial 

pressure on schools.  It does not take into consideration the additional costs 

associated with school meals e.g., kitchen maintenance and the additional wear 

and tear on equipment, mid-day meal supervision, energy etc.  However, as with 

Page 7

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

UIFSM, not every child will take a meal every day and so, as all will be funded for 

190 days this could mitigate to varying extents. 

5.2.3. As there are approximately an additional 9,000 children that would be eligible for 

the meal, the gap in funding will have a potential revenue impact on schools of up 

to £600k if every child takes a meal every day and all meals costs £3 (i.e. 35p 

pressure per meal, per day for 9,000 pupils). If take-up was at 80% for instance 

then this would fall to £480k. 

5.3. Kitchen equipment 
 

5.3.1. Considering the likely increase in meals provided, many schools will find the 

additional demand very difficult to service.  Ovens, fridges, freezers, and 

dishwashers are purchased in line with current meal numbers and may not have 

the capacity to cope with the extra requirement.   Storage would be required for 

the additional pots and pans, plates, and cutlery etc. Some schools with very 

small kitchens might struggle with having the space to accommodate this not to 

mention space for extra staff if required.  In addition, there are schools whose 

dining halls may not seat the number of children who would now take a school 

dinner.  The GLA have stated that there will be no capital funds available to assist 

with the additional requirement to upgrade kitchens.  It should be noted that prior 

to the implementation of UIFSM, £3m was invested in school kitchens to service 

the additional demand.   

 

5.3.2. An initial appraisal of schools in the central contract has been used to guide the 

capital implications for the wider school estate.  The assessment took into 

consideration the minimum requirements for the schools serviced by the central 

team.  The assessment has identified large items and does not take into 

consideration the additional requirement for light goods (plates, trays, cups, 

cutlery, pots, and pans etc) - it is assumed that this cost will be borne by each 

school or their provider.   

 

5.3.3. Extrapolating this out across all Lewisham schools has identified a required 

investment of circa £620,000.  Officers are currently working with schools outside 

of the central contract to complete individual impact assessments to ensure the 

accuracy of the capital requirements. Officers will be working hard with schools to 

ensure that this expenditure is kept to a minimum. 

 
5.3.4. This figure does not include a provision for capital requirements within 

Page 8

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Academies as they sit outside of the council’s responsibility regarding funding 

and capital investment. We are however communicating with academies to 

ensure that they are planning ahead to enable delivery. 

 

5.3.5. The scheme is set to begin in September 2023 and with all London schools 

facing a similar challenge, it is likely there will be high demand for commercial 

kitchen appliances which could lead to shortages and serious delays with delivery 

and installation.  For this reason, it is imperative that capital funding is approved 

urgently, and orders placed to allow for adequate lead in time. The 

recommendations are for this to be paid for and procured by the council, with 

funding coming from a review of existing capital budgets. 

 

5.4. FSM related funding 
 

5.4.1. There is a clear risk that the number of parents/carers applying for FSM will 

reduce due to a universal offer, indeed there is evidence (Institute for Social and 

Economic Research, 2020 review of the 2014 Universal Infant FSM (UIFSM) 

policy) that UIFSM resulted in some eligible parents not registering their child for 

(means-tested) FSM – registration rates for infant pupils were about 1.2 

percentage points lower than expected. However, with Universal Infant FSM, 

eligible parents still had the incentive of their children receiving FSM in the 

juniors. It is likely that the drop in FSM applications in this case will be greater as 

parents are likely to defer applying until secondary transfer. 

 

5.4.2. FSM is used as a proxy for a number of different funding streams, including the 

main delegated budget share, pupil premium, and the national funding formula for 

High Needs and Early Years. 

 
5.4.3. Even a 1.2% reduction in sign up could (using the Pupil Premium and delegated 

budget share) have significant impact. Pupil premium is currently circa £9m, a 

1.2% reduction would be £108k, albeit, as pupil premium is based on FSM over a 

6-year period, it may take some lead in time for the loss to be realised 

 

5.4.4. The delegated budget share has two factors within it that are funded by FSM  

 FSM = £3.2m, a 1.2% reduction would equate to £39k 

 FSM6 = £5.1m, a 1.2% reduction would equate to an additional loss of £61k 

 

5.4.5. Whilst in isolation the loss of funding suggests circa £200k, over a 5-year period 

Page 9

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

would equate to a £1m. as noted, the 1.2% is based on the infant FSM position, 

at this stage we don’t know if the figure would be higher as the free meal would 

be seamless throughout primary school, with a potential for higher non-

registration.  For each 1% the loss in funding would increase by the circa £200k. 

 

5.4.6. It is not possible to state the impact of any reduction on the High Needs Block 

and Early Years as the FSM is integral part of the calculation and that the formula 

is supported by floors and ceilings which may mitigate the risk.  

 

5.4.7. Additionally, the level of meal funding would in effect reduce from £3/meal (the 

current funding formula amount) to £2.65/meal for each eligible child, equating to 

a reduction of £67/child/year. 

 

5.4.8. Officers are working with other councils to look at the best way to ensure that 

parents/carers continue to apply for FSM regardless of this scheme being 

implemented.   

 

5.5. Future Expectation 
 

5.5.1. There is a risk, that by implementing this scheme, schools and the council raise 

expectations that it will continue beyond the 2023/24 academic year. 

 

5.5.2. This places two additional risks on the council (and schools); 

 The reputational risk of seeming to cease providing this additional support 

(even though it is stated to be 1 year funding and with the majority from 

the Mayor of London, not councils/schools. 

 The potential financial risk of having to try and provide some scheme in 

the future from council/school budgets. This would be circa £5m/year. 

 

5.5.3. Officers and schools will work to ensure that the communications to 

parents/carers clearly states that this is a once-off one year support provided by 

the MoL, Lewisham Council and the Schools.  

6. Financial implications  

6.1  The report details, the requirement placed on London Councils to comply with the 

Mayor of London’s pledge to extend Universal meal provision to Key Stage 2. 

6.2  Schools are currently obliged to provide Universal Infant Free Schools Meals for Key 

Page 10

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Stage 1. 

6.3  Lewisham Council welcomes the announcement of the one-year funding from the 

Mayor of London to provide Universal Free School meals to children in Key State 2. 

However, to enable Lewisham to comply with this requirement, there will be a 

requirement to support schools with infrastructure (i.e. capital and minor capital repair 

support).  This is estimated to be in the region of £620k. The capital funding will have 

to come from existing capital budgets, and as such a review of the current DfE capital 

and the general fund capital programme will take place to identify the required funds. 

6.4  The report further notes the potential loss of funding to schools coupled with additional 

costs that schools themselves will incur (at varying levels). M&C are asked to note the 

cost for schools to subsidise the meals will be up to £600k and the actual cost may be 

lower, depending on the take up of the meals. For example, a 90% take up rate is likely 

to cost schools c£540k. 

6.5  The report seeks Mayor and Cabinet to  

- To note the contents of the report, including the potential revenue impact on schools 

subsidising the meals (up to £600k), the knock-on impact of future funding linked to 

FSM (FSM), and the expectation this may create and that the Council will be unable to 

continue the universal offer as it would cost circa £5m per annum to continue (for the 

meal provision element). 

- To formally accept the one academic year funding (2023/24) and instruct officers to 

write back stipulating the financial implications for the council and schools as outlined 

above. 

- To approve the capital funding of up to £620k and instruct officers to commence 

procurement of the necessary kitchen equipment to enable the delivery of these meals 

from September 2023.  

6.6  With regards to ensuring that the MoL is notified of the potential transfer of financial 

burden, these elements are as follows: 

- Capital works as noted above 

- Impact on schools 

6.7  Lewisham schools receive £570 for every FSM, i.e. £3 per meal.  The MoL figure is at 

£2.65, which equates to £506 (at £2.65x191 days).  For each pupil a primary school 

could result in a pressure of 35p a meal, i.e. circa £66 per pupil.     There is likely to be 

some mitigation for the school from those that do not take a meal but are on the termly 

Page 11

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

census.  

6.8  As a worst-case scenario, there are currently approximately 9000 students who are not 

FSM, the shortfall in funding could potentially impact schools with circa £600k as stated 

above, subject to the 2 mitigation items. 

6.9  Potential impact of loss of funding in future years, where FSM is used as a 

proxy.  Lewisham will look to mandate all pupils on FSM to sign up for eligibility, 

however, at this stage it is not clear if this can in fact be mandated.  Assuming it 

cannot, then potentially schools can lose funding as a consequence of lower sign 

up.  Equally, if it is possible to mandate, then the FSM sign up for KS1, could be 

improved, meaning schools could benefit 

6.10  Other supporting costs – depending on the level of additional meals and the practical 

nature of the school dining arrangements, some schools will incur additional costs from 

the need to have extra lunch sittings –i.e. cleaning costs, supervision costs, possible 

increase in utility costs 

6.11  Possible impact on schools at this stage can only be noted as areas of Risk, following 

implementation, it would be appropriate to assess if schools have been able to contain 

/mitigate any of the costs 

6.12  It should also be noted that for Key Stage 1, the DfE provide £2.41  as such;  

- Many schools already subsidise the KS1 Provision 

- Whilst the funding is better than the KS1 position, it is unlikely to cover full 

cost as stated above 

6.13  At this stage the MoL pledge is for 2023/24 academic year. At this stage we do not 

know if this will be extended beyond this period and how the above pressures including 

impact on wear and tear will be supported  

7. Legal implications 

7.1  All relevant legal implications are covered in the body of the report 

8. Equalities implications 

8.1  Ultimately the grant funding should have a positive impact on equalities within 

Lewisham by ensuring all primary school age pupils will have access to a FSM in 

academic year 2023/24  

Page 12

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

8.2  Dependent on take up and individual school meal costs, it is possible that schools need 

to further subsidise this scheme, as such some funds that would be used for the 

education of pupils could be diverted into funding school meals.  

8.3  It is also possible that those families who would be eligible for ‘FSM’ do not apply which 

will have an impact on the funding that the school receives to support their children’s 

education. 

9. Climate change and environmental implications 

9.1  There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from this 

report.  

10. Crime and disorder implications 

10.1  There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.  

11. Health and wellbeing implications  

11.1  The extension of FSM to all primary aged pupils will have a positive impact on the 

health and wellbeing of those children, ensuring that no-one goes hungry. It is also 

possible that this will have a knock on positive impact on household budgets which in 

turn could have a positive impact on the wider family in terms of health and wellbeing.  

12. Glossary  

Term Definition 

FSM 
FSM – This usually refers to the allowance made to children 

who have applied for the means tested benefit. 

UIFSM 
Universal Infant FSM – This allowance is made for children in 

KS1 who do not receive FSM 

UFSM 
Universal FSM – An allowance for children who do not already 

receive FSM and in this paper refers to KS2 

MoL Mayor of London 

GLA Greater London Authority 

KS2 Key Stage 2 (Years 3-6) 

13. Report author(s) and contact 

13.1  Matt Henaughan, Head of Business, Infrastructure and Education Operations, x43321 

Page 13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

matt.henaughan@lewisham.gov.uk  

13.2 Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources 

13.3 Mala Dadlani, Strategic Business Partner (CYP) Finance, x43581 

malasona.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk  

13.4 Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law and Corporate Governance 

13.5  Jeremy Chambers, Director of Law and Corporate Governance, x47865 

jeremy.chambers@lewisham.gov.uk  

14. Appendices 

14.1 Appendix 1 – UFSM Grant Conditions and Principles 

 

Page 14

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:matt.henaughan@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:malasona.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:jeremy.chambers@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 
1 

 

Universal Free School Meals – information on grant allocations, funding flows, grant 

conditions and principles 

 

The below information has been developed following engagement with boroughs, review of 

existing schemes and feedback from finance colleagues. 

 

1. Determining grant allocations  
 

a) The GLA has replicated the established (Education and Skills Funding Agency) ESFA’s 
funding regime method of calculating in allocating the level of funding required for grants 
for Free School Meals for primary pupils.   
 

b) So, for academic year 2023-24 the GLA will fund on an average of the primary pupils 
taken on census days in October 2022, January 2023 and June 2023 extrapolated 
across the year multiplied by £2.65 per day. This support will exclude the independent 
sector.  

 
c) Payment would be made termly in advance. To allow for upfront costs it is proposed that 

half of the funding would be paid in July 2023, with a further 20% in December and a 
further 20% in March. A balance of 10% would be held back for the final payment as set 
out in d) below.  
 

d) Based on the census day returns in October 2023 and January 2024 a balancing 
payment or claw back would be made before the end of the summer term 2024.  

 
e) Any additional process for clawback or top up will be based on actual differences in 

uptake of free school meals, except where an LEA chooses not to implement the 
scheme after having received the advances. This is because currently the ESFA does 
not operate such a clawback or top-up mechanism beyond the reconciliation payment 
described in d above.  
 

  
2. Funding flows   

 
a) Payment will be made to LEAs for their maintained schools and non-LEA maintained 

schools (i.e. Payment to Academy Trusts would be made by each LEA for MATs in their 
area). LEAs will pass on the exact amount to each MAT based on the allocation set out 
above and that payment would be made swiftly to each MAT once GLA funds are 
received.  

 
b) For those LEAs that currently provide FSM for all their primary pupils, the sum to be paid 

to them will be based on the calculation described above. Discussions are to take place 
between the GLA and the five LEAs currently providing this support, as to how the sum 
to be paid will be used for further cost of living measures. However, a high degree of 
flexibility will be applied by the GLA to ensure that these LEA can use this funding to 
best effect to address the cost-of-living crisis.  

 
 

Page 15



 

 
2 

 

c) Allocation does not include any provision for capital expenditure that may be necessary 
for LEAs or Academy Trusts to provide. An assessment of the potential need for such 
capital investment will be made in each LEA / Academy Trust and the extent to which 
alternative remedial steps other than such investment can be taken to ensure the 
Mayor’s commitment can be implemented.  
 

d) The grant agreement that will need to be made between each LEA and the GLA will 
need to promote the Mayor and his investment in schools’ meals through branding and 
communication in line with further guidance from the GLA that will be provided. Further, 
the grant agreement will also require a commitment from each LEA to take part in the 
evaluation of the programme, including data collection.  

 
e) Grant conditions would be accompanied by grant giving principles which set out a series 

of standards boroughs are encouraged to work to and this will include compliance with 
national school food standards. 
 

 
3. Standard grant conditions 

 
a) Boroughs should be aware that the following conditions will be attached to the grant 

funding:  
 

• The grant must be spent on provision of school lunch.  
 

• Local Authorities/ Schools and their catering providers must participate in 
evaluations or reviews of the Mayor’s Emergency Free School Meals provision, as 
needed. Monitoring will aim to minimise extra reporting burden and instead where 
possible draw upon existing data sets. 
 

• The Mayor’s investment must be promoted in any branding/communications.  This 
includes ensuring references to the expansion explains the source of the funding as 
the Mayor of London and supporting the distribution of a communication from the 
Mayor to all affected families, parents or carers. Further advice will follow.  
 

 

• The Mayor proposes to allocate funding to London Boroughs who currently provide 

USFM to their primary pupils as if they were not currently providing this function. 

The proposed allocation to these Boroughs is exactly the same as that which will be 

given to authorities who currently do not provide the function. The Mayor hopes that 

each Borough that currently provides USFM will use the offset funds to support 

families in financial hardship as a result of the cost of living crisis. 

 
4. Grant principles 

 
a) Grant principles will also be provided, setting out national or pan-London initiatives which 

we would encourage adoption of through borough schemes. This will include:   

  

• Pupil premium – to support approaches which continue to maximise registration by 

eligible families which may otherwise be impacted by the move to a universal 

approach through the Mayor’s Emergency Free School Meals funding.  

Page 16



 

 
3 

 

 

• Supporting families and communities – by paying London Living Wage (LLW) to 

catering staff and including LLW in any future tenders; and committing to wider 

action to support families struggling due to the cost of living crisis. 

 

• School food standards – meeting school food standards and ensuring school food 

is culturally appropriate. 

 

• Healthy schools – taking a whole school approach to healthy eating, participation in 

Healthy Schools London and adoption of water only policies. 

 

• Sustainability - Meet sustainable catering guidelines and support environmental 

aims. 

 

b) Further information on these principles is outlined in Annex 1. We will further discuss 

with partners and relevant forums what support is needed for implementation of the 

outlined principles. This may include for example a toolkit or letter to parents. 

 

 

 

  

Page 17



 

 
4 

 

Annex 1: Background to outlined grant principles 

 

Pupil Premium 

We understand the potential impact a universal offer could have on maintaining levels of 
registration for free school meals, and the effect this would have on pupil premium funding for 
schools. To mitigate against this, we would encourage consideration of best practice in 
promoting registration (and the benefits to schools) including models where all parents are 

required to complete registration1,2.  
 
How a borough or school chooses to promote registration is for agreement locally. Depending 
on the processes already in place in the borough for FSM application for years 3-6, this is likely 
be done either centrally by borough communications, or by the borough working with individual 
schools. The following will be made available to support local activities:   
 

• Learning on effective approaches will be shared through webinars and other forums 

• As part of this we will share examples of messages and copy that have been used to 
good effect by schools and boroughs, including wording that can be used on borough 
website registration pages and forms for schools.  We will make these resources 
available in a range of ways, including sharing via our London.gov. pages. 

• The GLA will work with boroughs and schools to support local messaging on 
registration, including as part of their pan-London messaging to Londoners about the 
scheme   

 
 

Supporting families and communities 

The Mayor has launched a Cost of Living hub which provides information about benefits, grants 

and discounts Londoners can get if they are in financial difficulty, from the Mayor of London, the 

government, your local council, charities and advice centers. Schools are encouraged to share 

resources with families in need:  

• https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/communities-and-social-justice/help-

cost-living  

In addition to support already being provided by schools, Good Thinking have also developed 

some resources to support Londoners mental health through the cost of living crisis which can 

be promoted: 

• https://www.good-thinking.uk/articles/cost-living-crisis-how-look-after-your-mental-health  

 

School Food Standards 

 
1 See https://www.islington.gov.uk/children-and-families/help-with-childcare-and-family-costs/free-school-

meals-and-uniform-grant  
2 Note that this approach should not impact on children accessing a free school meal – children will not be 

penalised in the lunchroom if their parents don’t register them. 

Page 18

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/communities-and-social-justice/help-cost-living
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/communities-and-social-justice/help-cost-living
https://www.good-thinking.uk/articles/cost-living-crisis-how-look-after-your-mental-health
https://www.islington.gov.uk/children-and-families/help-with-childcare-and-family-costs/free-school-meals-and-uniform-grant
https://www.islington.gov.uk/children-and-families/help-with-childcare-and-family-costs/free-school-meals-and-uniform-grant


 

 
5 

 

Government’s School Food plan sets out seventeen actions to transform what children eat in 

schools and how they learn about food. As part of the School Food Plan, a new set of standards 

for all food served in schools were launched and are mandatory in all maintained schools, new 

academies and free schools. 

These school food standards are to ensure that food provided to pupils in school is nutritious 

and of high quality; to promote good nutritional health in all pupils; protect those who are 

nutritionally vulnerable and to promote good eating behaviour. 

Resources are available to support schools in ensuring these standards are met: 

• Checklist for school lunches: http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-

content/uploads/2014/06/Checklist-for-school-lunches-140616.pdf 

• Portion sizes and food groups - http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-

content/uploads/2014/06/Portion-Tables-1406161.pdf  

• School Food: Guidance for Governors http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-

content/uploads/2015/11/Guidance-for-Governors-FINAL-15_10_15.pdf  

The School Food Plan includes guidance to ensure meals are served in an attractive, happy 

and calm dining environment. This includes  

• Staff and children eating together. 

• Catering staff (including midday supervisors) who are happy and engaged with school 

staff and children. 

• Children and parents are actively consulted. 

• Cashless payment system to reduce queues and stigmatization of Free School Meal 

(FSM) pupils. 

• Independent verification that school food standards and relevant Government Buying 

Standards are met across the school day. 

• Making water the drink of choice, freely and easily available. 

 

 

Healthy Schools 

Schools that are not already participating in Healthy Schools London (HSL) should be 

encouraged to register. HSL is a comprehensive approach to supporting pupil health and 

wellbeing that includes:  

• Healthy Eating  

• Physical Activity  

• Personal Social Health and Economic Education (PSHEE)  

• Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health  

Taking part in HSL, and working successfully through the tiered awards, will enable schools to 

directly support the health and wellbeing of their pupils and staff. It also bring them in as part of 

a supportive schools network.   

• https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/health/healthy-schools-london/awards/about   

 

Page 19

http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Checklist-for-school-lunches-140616.pdf
http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Checklist-for-school-lunches-140616.pdf
http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Portion-Tables-1406161.pdf
http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Portion-Tables-1406161.pdf
http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Guidance-for-Governors-FINAL-15_10_15.pdf
http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Guidance-for-Governors-FINAL-15_10_15.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/health/healthy-schools-london/awards/about


 

 
6 

 

Schools should also be encouraged to become Water only, offering only low-fat milk or water to 

drink during the school day. Resources and a Toolkit to support schools have been developed 

and are available through the Healthy Schools London website: 

• https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/health-and-wellbeing/healthy-

schools-london-0/water-only-school-toolkit  

 

Sustainability  

Boroughs and schools are encouraged to ensure that sustainable climate friendly 

catering practices are followed. 

Food for Life Served Here sets out guidance for catering partners to delivers on providing 

healthy and sustainable food, working towards Sustainable Catering Certification. 

• https://www.foodforlife.org.uk/catering/food-for-life-served-here  

Caterers are encouraged to address climate change ambitions by reducing the amount of 
carbon intensive food they produce, promoting plant-based diets.  
 
The London Food Procurement Commitment is a partnership between ReLondon, Hackney and 
Sustain to empowering local authorities to ensure that food bought and served across council 
services is healthy, climate- and nature-friendly, and never wasted. 
 

• Circular food procurement - ReLondon 
  
 

Page 20

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/health-and-wellbeing/healthy-schools-london-0/water-only-school-toolkit
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/health-and-wellbeing/healthy-schools-london-0/water-only-school-toolkit
https://www.foodforlife.org.uk/catering/food-for-life-served-here
https://relondon.gov.uk/circular-food-procurement

	Agenda
	1 Mayor of London Grant for Key Stage 2 Universal Free School Meals
	MC Decision Report - Mayor of London Grant for Key Stage 2 Universal Free School Meals 15.5.23
	Appendix 1 - UFSM Grant Conditions and Principles


